IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-1444

OSCAR LAMB,

Petitioner,

-vs.-

WILLIAM MATETZSCHK,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROY D. WASSON 1320 S. Dixie Highway, Suite 450 Miami, FL 33146 Telephone: (305) 666-5053 DAVID J. GOREWITZ 1825 Riverview Drive Melbourne, FL 32901 Telephone: (321) 984-0046

Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a Petition for discretionary review of the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered on July 18, 2003 (SCR-57-62¹), holding that the trial court's award of attorneys fees pursuant to §768.79, Fla. Stat. (1997) and Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.442 was erroneous and would be reversed because fee award was based upon "two undifferentiated offers of judgment made by a plaintiff to two defendants, one of whom is allegedly liable only on a vicarious basis as a co-owner of a vehicle." SCR-57.

The following recitation of the facts is taken from the corrected opinion issued by the Fifth DCA as a result of the Plaintiff/Petitioner's Motion for Certification:

[T]he Plaintiff, Oscar Lamb, rear-ended a stopped car and, in a chain reaction, was rear-ended by an automobile operated by the Defendant, William Matetzschk, who was then rear-ended by an automobile driven by his own wife, Margie Matetzschk, who was driving behind her husband. There is no allegation or other indication that the impact of Margie's car with the rear of William's car propelled it into the rear of Lamb's vehicle for a second time.

¹There are three indexes to portions of the record in this case, all of which confusingly duplicate each other's numbering systems. The 75-page record prepared for this Supreme Court proceeding by the Fifth DCA is cited as "SCR-[page]" The records of the two appeals to the Fifth DCA are identified as "R01-[page]" (record in case no. 5D01-3337) and "R02-[page]" (record in case no. 5D02-455).

Lamb brought suit against the Matetzschks for his injuries sustained in the crash. The sole allegation against Margie Matetzschk was that she was "an owner of a vehicle causing Plaintiff's injuries and is therefore jointly and severally liable with William Matetzschk" for Lamb's damages. Clearly, this is not an allegation of active negligence and apparently was based on the erroneous assumption that Margie was a co-owner of the vehicle William was driving.

During the course of litigation, Lamb offered two joint proposals for settlement to the Matetzschks, one for \$15,000, dated July 19, 1999, and the second for \$9,000, dated August 2, 1999. The offers, neither of which was accepted, were undifferentiated as between the two defendants. Subsequently, Lamb settled with Margie at mediation and proceeded with the case against William.

A third proposal of settlement in the amount of \$6,000 was dated August 16, 2000, and directed to William Matetzschk, the sole remaining defendant. This proposal also expired without acceptance, and the case proceeded to jury trial, resulting in a verdict of \$73,108. As a result of this verdict (which exceeded any of the three settlement proposals by more than 25%), the trial court conducted two hearings: at the first, the parties stipulated that Lamb was entitled to an attorney fee; at the second, William disputed the validity of the first two offers in 1999 on the basis that they were undifferentiated as to the two party defendants, but the trial court ruled that this argument was waived because it was not raised in the first hearing. The trial court then awarded attorney fees to Lamb's counsel based upon the first proposal of settlement dated July 19, 1999. This appeal ensued.

SCR-57-59. The decision under review is reported at *Matetzschk v. Lamb*, 849 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003).²

The Fifth District in that decision receded from its prior decision in *Strahan v*. *Gaudlin*, 756 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), *review dismissed*, 800 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 2001), which had upheld the validity of an undifferentiated proposal for settlement served upon "one allegedly negligent tortfeasor and several parties whose liability was alleged on a vicarious basis." *Id.* at 161. In the decision under review, the Fifth District held that the Plaintiff's first two offers of judgment dated July 19, 1999 and August 4, 1999 were legally insufficient upon which to base an award of attorneys fees because they did not differentiate between the amount being sought against the active tortfeasor, William Matetzschk, and that sought against Margie Matetzschk, whose only potential liability was vicarious. SCR-61.

²The proposals for settlement mentioned by the Fifth DCA in the decision under review are contained in the Fifth DCA's record in a related appeal, case no. 5D01-3337, which was utilized by agreement of the parties in 5th DCA case no 5D02-455. This Court by its order of January 9, 2004, granted the Petitioner's Motion to Supplement the Record with the record from 5D01-3337. However, because that record had been disassembled by the clerk of the lower tribunal and will require significant time to reassemble, this brief is filed without waiting for supplementation of the record with those documents. When that record is reassembled and transmitted, the proposals for settlement should appear as exhibits to the motion filed at R01-663, et seq.

The Fifth District in its decision of July 18, 2003, "recognize[d] that [its] instant opinion conflicts with *Barnes v. The Kellogg Co.*, [846 So. 2d 568 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003)], which held an undifferentiated offer of settlement from a plaintiff to two defendants, one of whom was only vicariously liable, was proper." The court below granted the Plaintiff/Petitioner's motion for certification and held: "we certify conflict with *Barnes.*" SCR-62.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to review the decision below under the jurisdictional grant of Fla. Const. Art. V, § 3 (b)(3) because this decision expressly and directly conflicts⁴ with decisions of other district courts of appeal on the same point of law, to wit: whether an undifferentiated proposal for settlement/offer of judgment served by a plaintiff upon multiple defendants—only one of whom is actively negligent and

¹ The Fifth District confused the roles of the parties in *Barnes*—the defendants (one of whom was only vicariously liable, if at all) had jointly served an undifferentiated offer of judgment on the lone plaintiff—instead of the other way around.

⁴Petitioner in his Notice to Invoke relied upon the express and direct conflict ground for jurisdiction, as well as the certified conflict ground. While this Court in its order of November 7, 2003 denied Petitioner's motion seeking leave to file a jurisdictional brief raising the express and direct conflict issue, that denial was without prejudice to raise such a jurisdictional basis in this brief on the merits.

the liability of the others, if any, is based solely upon vicarious responsibility—is sufficient upon which to base an award of attorneys fees against the Defendants.

This Court also has jurisdiction under Fla. Const. Art. V, §3(b)(4), in that the decision is a "decision of a district court of appeal. . . . that is certified by it to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal." That conflict is on the same issue as the express and direct conflict identified above: the sufficiency of undifferentiated proposals for settlements/offers of judgment to support awards of attorneys fees, where the liability of the defendants would be coextensive due to the doctrine of vicarious liability. Public policy will be thwarted unless this Court resolves that conflict in favor of recognizing the validity of such offers in this narrow situation.

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION BASED ON THE CERTIFIED CONFLICT AND BASED ON OTHER UNCERTIFIED, BUT EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT

This Court has jurisdiction to review this case under Article V, §3(b)(4), Fla. Const., because the Fifth DCA certified such conflict with the Second DCA's decision in *Barnes v. The Kellogg Co.*, 846 So. 2d 568 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). Additionally, this Court has jurisdiction to review the Fifth District's decision in that it expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of several other district courts of appeal on the same question of law. *See* Art. V, § 3 (b)(3), Fla. Const. as implemented by Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

While there certainly is jurisdiction based upon the *certified* conflict between the subject decision and the Second District's decision in *Barnes v. The Kellogg Co.*,⁵ there is an even more apparent conflict between the Fifth DCA's decision in this case and decisions from the Second, Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal. The present case expressly and directly conflicts with *Crowley v. Sunny's Plants, Inc.*, 710 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), *Safelite Glass Corp. v. Samuel*, 771 So. 2d 44 (Fla.

⁵ 846 So. 2d 568 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

4th DCA 2000), and *Danner Constr. Co. v. Reynolds Metals Co.*, 760 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000).

Each of those cases involve the identical factual situation present here of a single plaintiff serving an undifferentiated offer upon defendants whose liability (if any) was co-extensive. The conflict is one which requires this Court to intervene.

II.

THE FIFTH DCA'S DECISION SHOULD BE QUASHED BECAUSE THE UNDIFFERENTIATED PROPOSALS FOR SETTLEMENT TO WILLIAM MATETZSCHK WERE SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE ATTORNEYS FEE AWARD

A. Introduction:

This Court can and should quash the Fifth DCA's decision to approve the trial court's ruling that Plaintiff was entitled to recover his attorneys fees from William Matetzschk from the time the first proposal for settlement was rejected. The proposal did not need to apportion the amounts sought from each Defendant because Margie Matetzschk—if liable at all—was vicariously liable for the whole amount of damages. Such cases involve an exception to the general rule requiring apportionment. "This exception to rule 1.442(c)(3) arose because the theory of vicarious liability simply does not allow for apportionment of fault or damages. Danner Constr. Co., 760 So. 2d at 202. Because apportionment is considered impossible in a vicarious liability case, the

courts have relieved the parties of the requirement to apportion the offer in that type of case." *Crespo v.Woodland Lakes Creative Retirement Concepts, Inc.*, 845 So. 2d 342, 343-44 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

A. Apportionment Not Possible Where One Defendant Vicariously Liable:

There is no need under the law for a proposal for settlement to differentiate the amounts to be paid by two or more defendants where the theory of liability against one defendant is solely his or her vicarious liability for the negligence of the other defendant. The Florida Supreme Court case upon which the Fifth DCA relies for its holding that differentiation is required did not involve the situation in which the liability of one of the defendants was strictly vicarious. See *Willis Shaw Express, Inc.*, v. *Hilver Sod, Inc.*, 849 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 2003).

The cases which address the situation present here — of a solely vicariously liable co-defendant — recognize the efficacy of a proposal for settlement to support an award of attorneys fees, without differentiation of the amount of that proposal between the negligent defendant and the defendant alleged to be vicariously liable for that negligence.

The question of whether a proposal for settlement made by a plaintiff to two defendants — one who was negligent and the other who was only vicariously liable,

if liable at all—was addressed by the Third District in *Crowley v. Sunny's Plants Inc.*, 710 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998). The plaintiff in that case served offers of judgment which were not accepted, and the jury returned a verdict which was sufficiently greater than those offers to support an award of attorneys fees. However, the trial court denied the plaintiff's motion to determine entitlement to attorneys fees, finding that the plaintiffs "were not entitled to their attorneys fees and costs because their offers of judgment did not specifically identify the parties to whom the offers were made." 710 So. 2d at 220.

The Third District reversed that ruling in *Crowley*, holding that no differentiation of amounts was required under the circumstances, because both defendants, "Sunny's and Perez were jointly and severally liable for any judgment when the offers were made; Sunny's was vicariously liable for the fault attributable to Perez." *Id.* at 221.

The issue was next addressed by the Fifth DCA in *Strahan v. Gauldin*, 756 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). That was a lawsuit for personal injury brought against one defendant for his negligence and several other defendants, based solely on claims of vicarious liability, in which the plaintiff made an undifferentiated proposal for settlement which was rejected by the defendants.

The defendants appealed the award of attorneys fees to them based upon such an undifferentiated proposal for settlement, citing *McFarland & Son, Inc. v. Basel*,

727 So. 2d 266 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). In affirming the award of attorneys fees in the *Strahan* case, the court agreed that the lack of apportionment of the plaintiff's offer among the defendants did not render it ineffective to support the trial court's award of attorneys fees, holding as follows:

We do not agree with the Strahans that McFarland controls the results in this case. An important difference between McFarland and the instant case is that in McFarland, liability, pursuant to the allegations of the complaint, could be allocated on the basis of fault among each of the defendants. In McFarland, there were separate issues relating to the negligence of each driver and the negligence of the employer of one of the drivers in hiring, training and supervising him. In contrast, the complaint in the instant case alleged only the negligent act of Arthur P. Strahan, Jr. *The other defendants*, Strahan's parents and Strahan Music, Inc. and Strahan Management, were included in the complaint only under theories of vicarious liability. Unlike the plaintiff in McFarland, Gauldin could not logically apportion his offer among the Strahans because each of the individual defendants were liable for the entire amount of damages. Because of that joint and several liability, none of the individual defendants were adversely affected by the joint offer.

756 So. 2d at 161.

The Second District Court of Appeal joined the Fifth District and the Third District in holding that apportionment of an offer's amount is not required to support a fee award where one defendant is only vicariously liable for the negligence of another defendant, in *Danner Constr. Co. v. Reynolds Metals Co.*, 760 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000). The defendants in that case made an undifferentiated offer of judgment to the plaintiff in the amount of \$1.5 million and the plaintiff recovered a verdict of \$109,385 which was reduced to zero after set-offs for prior settlements. The Second District held that it was impracticable and unnecessary for the offer to be apportioned among the defendants, because the liability of one was solely vicarious for the negligence of the other. The court reversed the trial court's denial of attorneys fees.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal joined the majority of districts in rejecting the argument that apportionment is required in the vicarious liability context in *Safelite Glass Corp. v. Samuel*, 771 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). That was a personal injury case brought by the Samuels against Safelite and its employee Mr. Haughton, based upon the employee's negligence and Safelite's vicarious liability for that negligence.

The plaintiffs in *Safelit*e served an undifferentiated proposal for settlement in the amount of \$400,000, and recovered a judgment of more than \$600,000, thereby exceeding the offer amount by more than twenty-five percent. The defendants

appealed the award of attorneys fees, arguing that the plaintiff's proposal for settlement was made to both defendants jointly and did not apportion the amount attributable to each of them. In affirming the award of attorneys fees and rejecting the argument that the offer had to be apportioned, the Fourth District noted: "The defendant/offerees in this case were not joint tortfeasors with potentially different degrees of fault and competing interests." 771 So. 2d at 45.

The Fifth DCA mistakenly applied this Court's decision in *Willis Shaw Express, Inc.*, *v. Hilyer Sod, Inc.*, 849 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 2003) to reverse the fee award in this case. The *Willis Shaw* case did not involve the situation of co-extensive degrees of liability of the defendants but involved a joint proposal of settlement served by two plaintiffs (who had sustained much different degrees of damage to a single defendant). That distinction is important because one of those plaintiffs might not have been able to approve the amount of its damages against the defendant, while the other had a meritorious damages claim, both simply on evaluation issues not present in this case. Where there is only a single plaintiff, as to whom each defendant's liability would be equal.

B. Margie's Defense Not Available To William Matetzchk:

The Fifth DCA in the decision under review makes the point that Margie Matetzchk in the present case apparently had a meritorious defense to the claim of

vicarious liability against her, due to the fact that she was not a co-owner of the accident vehicle after all⁶. The court thus distinguishes this situation from the case in which the vicarious liability of a defendant is not contested, and the defendant concedes responsibility for the same amount of damages proved against the actively-negligent defendant.

While that argument would have some superficial appeal, were the award of attorneys fees to have been made against the allegedly vicariously-liable Defendant (Margie Matetzschk), that is not what happened here. William Matetzschk's liability to the Plaintiff would not be any different, whether or not Margie Matetzschk were successful in her defense that she was not a co-owner of the vehicle. Whether or not Margie was successful in her defense, Mr. William Matetzschk's exposure to the Plaintiff was the same. Therefore, the proposals for settlement were sufficient to

⁶Plaintiff settled with Margie for \$100 when he learned that she really did not own the accident vehicle.

support the fee award as against William, as the actively-negligent tortfeasor.⁷ The order under review should be quashed.

III.

THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS JURISDICTION TO ADDRESS THE PUBLIC POLICY CONCERNS RAISED BY THE DECISION UNDER REVIEW

Once this Court recognizes the existence of its conflict jurisdiction in this case, it should exercise its discretion to accept jurisdiction and to consider this case on the merits, due to the existence of very serious public policy concerns resulting from the Fifth DCA's decision. The Fifth District in the decision under review felt obliged to recede from its prior decision recognizing the validity of unapportioned proposals for settlement as a result of this Court's decision in *Willis Shaw Express, Inc. v. Hilyer Sod, Inc.*, 849 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 2003).

That case involved an undifferentiated proposal for settlement served by two plaintiffs upon the single defendant, Hilyer Sod, Inc. While the reversal of the parties'

⁷ Mr. Matetzschk's ultimate responsibility would not be any different, whether or not Margie Matetzschk was successful in her defense that she was not vicariously liable. Even if Margie Matetzschk's defense were successful, the Plaintiff would recover all of his damages against William Matetzschk. Even if Margie Matetzschk were held to be vicariously liable as a co-owner of the vehicle, and had initially paid all or some portion of a verdict or settlement to the Plaintiff, she would be entitled to recover those payments back from William Matetzschk by way of an identity claim, so he would end up being responsible for the full amount of the Plaintiff's damages.

roles from the alignment of the present case does not serve to distinguish the two cases, the distinguishing feature about *Willis Shaw* is that the two plaintiffs in that case did not share a joint interest in the proposal for settlement.

To the contrary, the plaintiffs in the *Willis Shaw* case had totally different claims for damages, with one of them seeking damage to a tractor trailer totaling approximately \$129,000 and the other only seeking recovery for the loss of personal property totaling only approximately \$1,800. There is no way that a defendant receiving such a proposal could calculate the effect that acceptance of it would have on either one of those plaintiff's claims.

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