IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC03-1444

Florida Bar No. 184170

OSCAR LAMB, ) Petitioner, ) vs. ) WILLIAM MATETZSCHK, ) Respondent. )

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

)

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS WILLIAM MATETZSCHK

(With Appendix)

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Sr., Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 525-5885 - Broward (954) 525-5885 - Dade

#

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

In summary, Florida law is completely clear that statutes awarding attorney's fees, and specifically Florida Statute § 768.79 and Rule 1.442, are in derogation of common law and must be

-20-

strictly complied with.

Since the Proposal for Settlement in the present case was a joint proposal which was not itemized, it is clear under the wealth of Florida authority that the Proposal for Settlement was not valid, and attorney's fees can not be awarded.

#### D. <u>Multiple Litigation of Rule 1.442(c)</u>

There has been extensive litigation trying to engraft exceptions upon the clear language of Rule 1.442(c). This extensive appellate litigation will doubtlessly continue, if the Supreme Court recedes from its "bright line" test of <u>Willis Shaw</u>, and allows trial judges to engraft exceptions onto the clear wording of the rule.

Although Rule 1.442(c) was only effective in 1997, in the less than seven years since then, there have been at least 31 recorded appellate decisions seeking to engraft exception upon this clear language. <u>Security Professionals, Inc. v. Segall</u>, 685 So. 2d 1381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997); <u>Bodek v. Gulliver Academy, Inc.</u>, 702 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997); <u>Crowley v. Sunny's Plants, Inc.</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>McFarland & Son, Inc. v. Basel</u>, 727 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999); <u>Flight Express, Inc. v. Robinson</u>, 736 So. 2d 796 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999); <u>Spruce Creek Development Co. of Ocala, Inc. v. Drew</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>United Services Automobile Association v. Behar</u>, 752 So. 2d 663 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); <u>C & S Chemicals, Inc. v. McDougald</u>, 754 So. 2d 795 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); <u>Sparks v. Barnes</u>, 755 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999); <u>Strahan v. Gauldin</u>, <u>supra</u>;

Danner Construction Company, Inc. v. Reynolds Metals Company, supra; Goldstein v. Harris, 768 So. 2d 1146 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); Safelite

-21-

Glass Corporation v. Samuel, 771 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); Ford Motor Company v. Meyers, 771 So. 2d 1202 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); Allstate Indemnity Company v. Hingson, 808 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 2002); Stern v. Zamudio, 780 So. 2d 155 (Fla. 2001); Allstate Insurance Company v. Materiale, 787 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 2001); Alanwood Holding Co. v. Thompson, 789 So. 2d 485 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); Dudley v. McCormick, 799 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001); Allstate Indemnity Company v. Hingson, 808 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 2002); Clipper v. Bay Oaks Condominium Association, Inc., 810 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); Lucas v. Calhoun, 813 So. 2d 971 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); Florida Gas Transmission Company v. Lauderdale Sand & Fill, Inc., 813 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); Basel v. McFarland & Sons, Inc., 815 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002); Hilver Sod, Inc. v. Willis Shaw Express, Inc., 817 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002); Thompson v. Hodson, 825 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002); Pearson v. Gabrelcik, 838 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003); Crespo v. Woodland Lakes Creative Retirement Concepts, Inc., 845 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003); Barnes v. The Kellogg Company, 846 So. 2d 568 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003); Willis Shaw Express, Inc. v. Hilyer Sod Inc., supra; and Matetszchk v. Lamb, 849 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003).

If the Supreme Court should adopt the argument of the Petitioner, and allow the trial courts to engraft exceptions on to the clear language of Rule 1.442(c), there will continue to be extensive litigation to engraft additional exceptions.

Therefore, the public policy of the law is best served by upholding the "bright line" test, as handed down by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Willis Shaw</u>.

-22-

If the Florida Supreme Court intended for there to be an exception for vicarious liability situations, the consistent method of creating this exception would have been to adopt the amendment as proposed by the rules committee. Therefore, the Rule would expressly have provided an exception in this situation, which would not violate the strict construction requirement. The Florida Supreme Court did not do so.

#### E. Litigation of Vicarious Liability

It should also be pointed out that the question of vicarious liability is not always a clear cut question, and often needs to be litigated. Therefore, if the Supreme Court receded from the "bright line" test of <u>Willis Shaw</u>, there would need to be judicial interpretation as to the validity of a joint proposal which fails to itemize the terms and conditions as to each party, which is made in a lawsuit, in which a party is being sued for both active negligence and vicarious liability; and whether the proposal for settlement would be valid, depending on whether or not the jury returned a verdict for vicarious liability.

The question of vicarious liability is often litigated in a situation where there is a question as to whether a worker is an independent contractor or an employee. For instance, if there was a question as to whether a truck driver was an employee or an independent contractor, a complaint could have a count for negligence against the employee, a count against the trucking company for vicarious liability for acts of the employee, and a second count against the employer for active negligence, for instance, for

-23-

negligent maintenance of the truck. Therefore, issues would arise in this scenario as to whether proposals for settlement were valid, depending on whether or not the trucking company won or lost the vicarious liability question.

For instance, if a proposal for settlement which failed to itemize the terms and conditions was made to the driver and the trucking company, and the jury later held the trucking company was <u>not</u> vicariously liable, but was actively negligent, would that proposal be valid? A second scenario would be whether in that situation, an un-itemized proposal made <u>by</u> the driver and company were valid.

If this Honorable Court recedes from the "bright line" test of <u>Willis Shaw</u>, and allows trial judges to engraft exceptions on the clear wording of Rule 1.442, countless issues will need to be decided by judges in the future, as to whether proposals for settlement are valid.

The plaintiff in his Brief makes the astonishing argument in Point II that whenever a plaintiff files suit for vicarious liability, there is a possibility the plaintiff may not prevail on that issue, so a proposal for settlement should be valid even if he does not prevail on the vicarious liability issue. Clearly, it is not the purpose of the proposal for settlement rule and statute to reward parties who file claims and lose, with attorney's fees.

There are numerous situations where issues of vicarious liability are litigated. See, <u>Danner Construction Company v.</u> <u>Reynolds Metals Company</u>, <u>supra</u>, concerning litigation as to whether the construction company was vicariously liable for an act of a

-24-

subcontractor; NME Properties, Inc. v. Rudich, 840 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), concerning litigation as to whether a nursing home was vicariously liable, even though it was operated by an independent contractor; Suarez v. Gonzalez, 820 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), concerning whether the homeowner was vicariously liable for acts of a worker who did construction work at his house, who he contended was an independent contractor; Bowling v. Gilman, 28 Fla L. Weekly, D2236 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003, September 26, 2003), concerning whether a crane owner was vicariously liable for an injury caused by a crane, operated by an independent contractor); Shands Teaching Hospital and Clinic, Inc. v. Juliana, 28 Fla. L. Weekly, D2027 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003, opinion filed April 29, 2003), concerning whether a hospital was vicariously liable for a profusionist, or whether his status as an independent contractor would shield the hospital from vicarious liability; Doles v. Koden International, Inc., 779 So. 2d 609 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), concerning whether the owners of a vessel which contained a defective signaling device were vicariously liable for the acts of the manufacturer of the defective signaling device, to two fishermen who died on the ship due to the defective signaling device.

The following are eight scenarios arising just from the factual situation in the present case:

1. Would an un-itemized proposal for settlement made <u>to</u> two defendants who are in a vicarious liability situation, be valid?

2. The same facts as #1, but the proposal is made by the two defendants?

3. Would an un-itemized proposal for settlement made <u>to</u> two defendants, who are

-25-

being sued in alternative counts for active negligence and for vicarious liability, be valid, if at trial the jury finds there is no vicarious liability?

4. The same facts as #3, but the proposal is made <u>by</u> the two defendants?

5. Would an un-itemized proposal for settlement made <u>to</u> two defendants, who are <u>not</u> vicariously liable, but are sued by the plaintiff under a mistaken theory of vicarious liability, be valid?

6. The same facts as #5, but the proposal is made by the two defendants?

7. Would an un-itemized proposal for settlement made <u>to</u> two defendants, who are not vicariously liable, and are being sued on an allegation in the Complaint which is ambiguous as to whether they are being sued for vicarious, or for joint and several liability, be valid?

8. The same facts as #7, but the proposal is made <u>by</u> the two defendants?

In summary, there are numerous cases when the issue of vicarious liability is litigated in Florida. Any retreat from the "bright line" test of <u>Willis Shaw</u>, will enable trial court judges to engraft additional exceptions in various factual situations, which will produce years of litigation.

The public policy of the State clearly is to uphold the "bright line" test of <u>Willis Shaw</u>, such that there is complete clarity in the future for all attorneys in the State, as to whether the proposal for settlement is valid.

If the Florida Supreme Court intended for there to be an exception for vicarious liability situations, the consistent method of creating this exception would have been to adopt the amendment as

-26-

proposed by the rules committee. Therefore, the Rule would expressly have provided an exception in this situation, which would not violate the strict construction requirement. The Florida Supreme Court did not do so.

### F. Plaintiff's Cases not on Point

The cases cited by the plaintiff in his Brief are not on point. The first case relied on by the petitioner, namely <u>Crowley v. Sunny's</u> <u>Plants, Inc.</u>, 710 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), is not on point because the proposal for settlement was made under the earlier version of the Proposal for Settlement Statute, and not under the 1996 version. It should be recalled that <u>prior to the revision in</u> <u>1996</u>, there was no requirement under the statute or rule to itemize joint proposals for settlement, as to each plaintiff and defendant, but in 1996, Rule 1.442, was amended, effective in 1997.

Therefore, <u>Crowley</u> is not on point because it interprets the prior version of the rule, prior to the amendment which required proposals to be itemized as to the parties. The proposals for settlement in <u>Crowley</u> were in September 1994, May 1995 and June 1995.

The second case relied on by the Petitioner, namely <u>Safelite</u> <u>Glass Corporation v. Samuel</u>, 771 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), is also not on point. In <u>Safelite</u>, defendant Haughton was in the course and scope of employment with Safelite Glass Company, and therefore Safelite was vicariously liable for Haughton. However, it will be recalled that in the present case, Margie Matetzschk did <u>not</u> own the automobile driven by William Matetzschk, and therefore undisputedly

-27-

was <u>not</u> vicariously liable for any actions of William Matetzschk. Since the defendants in the present case are not in a vicarious liability situation, there is no conflict with <u>Safelite</u>. Even if the plaintiff at the time of making the proposal mistakenly thought Margie was vicariously liable, certainly the defendants knew that she was not, and would evaluate the Proposal knowing that there was no vicarious liability. Therefore, <u>Safelite</u> is not on point, because there was no vicarious liability of the defendants in the present case.

Furthermore, <u>Safelite</u> is not applicable to the present situation, because it was decided prior to the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Willis Shaw</u>. <u>Willis Shaw</u> made clear that since Rule 1.442(c) requires proposals to be itemized, and this rule is in derogation of common law, that any proposal which does not satisfy this simple criteria is not valid.

The next case the Petitioner cites is <u>Danner Construction</u> <u>Company, Inc. v. Reynolds Metals Company</u>, 760 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000). However, <u>Danner</u> is not on point for three separate reasons. In the first place, it was decided prior to the decision in <u>Willis</u> <u>Shaw</u>, which clarified the law that proposals for settlement must strictly comply with Statute 1.442.

Secondly, it is not on point because in <u>Danner</u> the court held that it was "undisputed" that the only way defendant TMC would be liable would be for vicarious liability of Danner. In the present case, the facts, in contrast, show it is undisputed that there is <u>no</u> vicarious liability.

Third, the court in Danner followed as controlling, two cases

-28-

which the Supreme Court disapproved in <u>Willis Shaw</u>, namely <u>Flight</u> <u>Express, Inc. v Robinson</u>,736 So. 2d 796 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), and <u>Spruce Creek Development Co. of Ocala, Inc. v. Drew</u>, 746 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). Therefore, <u>Danner</u> is not controlling in the present case for three separate reasons.

The Petitioner next relies on <u>Crespo v. Woodland Lakes Creative</u> <u>Retirement Concepts, Inc.</u>, 845 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). <u>Crespo</u> is of no benefit to the Petitioner because it held the opposite of the Petitioner's assertion in this case. <u>Crespo</u> held that the proposal for settlement in that case was <u>not</u> valid because it was not itemized between the parties.

<u>Strahan v. Gauldin</u>, 756 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000) is the next case relied on by the Petitioner in his Brief. <u>Strahan</u> also is not on point for multiple reasons. In the first place the Fifth District expressly stated in the present decision, that the principle of <u>Strahan</u> was rejected by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Willis Shaw</u>.

Additionally, in <u>Strahan</u> it was undisputed that one defendant was vicariously liable for the act of another defendant, whereas in the present case the opposite is true; it is undisputed that Margie Matetzschk is <u>not</u> vicariously liable for the acts of William Matetzschk.

Third, <u>Strahan</u> was decided prior to the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Willis Shaw</u>, which has made clear that there must be strict compliance with Rule 1.422, because it is in derogation of common law, and that any proposal which is not itemized is not valid.

The Petitioner also relies on the case on which conflict has been certified by the Fifth District in the present case, namely

-29-

<u>Barnes v. The Kellogg Company</u>, 846 So. 2d 568 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000). The facts in <u>Barnes</u> were that the plaintiff purchased cereal at Albertson's supermarket, which cereal was made by Kellogg. It was in a sealed container, and the cereal allegedly contained insects, so the plaintiff filed suit for physical and psychological injuries. Albertson's and Kellogg filed a joint proposal for settlement to the plaintiff which was not itemized between Albertson's and Kellogg as to the amount. The court held that the only allegation as to Albertson's was vicarious liability for selling the cereal, and therefore Albertson's was vicariously liable for the acts of Kellogg in manufacturing the cereal with insects. The court held that since the defendants undeniably were in a vicarious liability situation, there was no necessity to differentiate in the proposal for settlement between Albertson's and Kellogg.

However, <u>Barnes</u> is not on point, because in the present case it is undisputed that there was <u>no vicarious liability</u> of the defendant. Since the defendants were only joint tortfeasors in this case, <u>Barnes</u> is not directly on point, and is not in express and direct conflict.

Additionally, the Supreme Court in <u>Willis Shaw</u> made clear that there must be strict construction with the provisions of Rule 1.442 requiring proposal for settlements to be itemized as to each plaintiff and defendant, and therefore in view of <u>Willis Shaw</u>, it is submitted the decision of the Second District in <u>Barnes</u> is incorrect.

Therefore, none of the cases the Petitioner cites in his Brief are controlling in his favor, nor are in express and direct conflict with the holding in the present case.

-30-

### G. Proposals for Settlement Will Continue

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